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BEATIE AND OSBORN LLP
Daniel A. Osborn

521 Fifth Avenue, 34" Floor
New York, New York 10175
Telephone:  (212) 888-9000
Facsimile: (212) 888-9664

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN DIVISION
X
ROBERT NIGG and KEITH LEWIS, as ) SA Civ 03-1611 (GLT)(ANX)
private attorney generals, individually, and )
on behalf of all others similarly situated, )
) AMENDED COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, )
) 1. Violations of Fair Labor Standards Act
V. )
) 2. Unfair Business Practices
UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE, )
)
Defendant. ) DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
X
AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Robert Nigg and Keith Lewis, by their attorneys, as and for their Amended
Complaint against defendant United States Postal Service, allege as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a collective action brought on behalf of all current and former postal
inspectors of the United States Postal Service (the "Postal Service"). Plaintiffs allege that the Postal
Service has failed to pay overtime and other wages in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act
("FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. § 201 et. seq.

2. Specifically, plaintiffs allege that the Postal Service failed to pay all postal
inspectors the proper wages for the hours they worked: (a) in excess of forty-three (43) hours in one
week and (b) while on "duty assignment." Plaintiffs' claims stem from defendant's improper

classification of them as exempt from the FLSA provisions requiring overtime pay.
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3. Plaintiffs seek to represent: All current and former postal inspectors employed
by the Postal Service between March 31, 2001 and the date of the resolution of this Amended
Complaint who sign a consent to join this action.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiffs Robert Nigg and Keith Lewis are, or were, postal inspectors
employed by the Postal Service. Plaintiff Nigg is currently employed as a postal inspector. Plaintiff
Lewis worked as a postal inspector within the last two years, but is no longer an employee of the
Postal Service. During the course of their employment with the Postal Service, both Mr. Nigg and
Mr. Lewis performed work in this district.

5. Approximately 1,500 postal inspectors are similarly situated to plaintiffs Nigg
and Lewis.

6. The names of the other postal inspectors are currently unknown to plaintiffs
Nigg and Lewis. However, the identity and employment information of all of the current and former
postal inspectors is known to defendant and can be easily determined from defendant's payroll and
other records.

7. Defendant Postal Service owns, controls and provides postal and mail service
throughout the United States, including California. The Postal Service has several business
segments, including the United States Postal Inspection Service. The Postal Inspection Service is
the law enforcement arm of the Postal Service and postal inspectors are the primary law enforcement
officers in the Postal Inspection Service.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1367, 39 U.S.C.
§ 409(a), and 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

0. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of
defendant's activity occurred in this district and because defendant Postal Service resides within this

district.
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10. The United States has waived the sovereign immunity of the Postal Service
over claims alleging a violation of the FLSA by specifically including postal employees among the
list of employees covered by the FLSA. See 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(2)(B).

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

11. This action is brought as a collective action under 29 U.S.C. Section 216(b).

12. Plaintiffs ask this Court to authorize the sending of notice to all current and
former postal inspectors employed by the Postal Service between March 31, 2001 and the date of
the resolution of this Amended Complaint, informing them of the pendency of this action and their
ability to join this lawsuit.

13. Plaintiffs believe that the Postal Service employs approximately 1,500
similarly situated postal inspectors throughout the United States. With approximately 1,500 postal
inspectors geographically dispersed, joinder of all postal inspectors is impracticable.

14. All current and former postal inspectors share a common legal grievance
against defendant. As described in this Amended Complaint, all postal inspectors have suffered
damages arising out of the Postal Service's failure to properly compensate them.

15. Questions of law and fact are common to all postal inspectors making them
all similarly situated. Among the common questions of law and fact are the following:

(a) Whether postal inspectors are non-exempt employees entitled to overtime

compensation under the FLSA;

(b) Whether defendant unlawfully failed to pay overtime wages and other

compensation in violation of the FLSA;

(©) Whether postal inspectors are entitled to overtime compensation while on

"duty assignment";

(d) Whether the Postal Service willfully violated the FLSA;

(e) Whether the Postal Service should be estopped from asserting the defense of

administrative exemption based on arguments it made to a federal

administrative agency; and
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) The proper measure of damages sustained by plaintiffs and all other similarly
situated postal inspectors.

FACTS

16. The Postal Service employs approximately 1,500 postal inspectors classified
at the EAS Level-23/ISLE Level-13 or lower. The Postal Service classified all postal inspectors as
exempt from the overtime pay requirements of the FLSA.

17. Postal inspectors are usually divided into teams of five (although the exact
number of team members may vary), and the team is supervised by an EAS Level-24/ISLE Level-14
Team Leader. There are approximately 335 Team Leaders in the United States.

18. Team Leaders, in turn, report to approximately 53 Assistant Inspectors in
Charge, who are managed by a lesser number of Postal Inspectors in Charge. The Postal Inspectors
in Charge are supervised by five Deputy Chief Inspectors, who, in turn, report to the head of the
United States Postal Inspection Service, the Chief Postal Inspector.

19. Postal inspectors, like plaintiffs Nigg and Lewis, carry on their investigations
under the oversight and supervision of their Team Leader. They do not have authority to take any
discretionary actions; they do not direct the work of other Postal Service employees; they do not
formulate or effectuate management policies; they do not have authority to hire or fire employees;
and they do not supervise or manage any programs or personnel.

20. Based on the work performed by the postal inspectors, the Postal Service's
classification of the postal inspectors as exempt from the FLSA's overtime compensation provision
was and is improper.

21. Plaintiffs acknowledge that approximately twenty years ago, two district
courts held that postal inspectors were exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA because
postal inspectors were deemed "administrative employees."

22. However, the job duties of postal inspectors have dramatically changed in the
years since those decisions. In fact, the Postal Service itself has argued that the job duties and

responsibilities of postal inspectors do not involve the use of any discretion.
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23. Specifically, in several submissions to the Merit Systems Protection Board
("MSPB") arising out of a compensation dispute with plaintiff Nigg, the Postal Service argued that,
based on the job duties and responsibilities of a postal inspector, Nigg was not "a management or
supervisory employee or an employee engaged in personnel work in other than a purely non-
confidential clerical capacity," and therefore not eligible to appeal a determination of the Postal
Service. The Postal Service first made this argument in February 2001.

24, In its decision dated June 13, 2001, the MSPB agreed with the Postal Service
and concluded that a postal inspector was not "a manager, supervisor, or personnelist [sic] doing
other than purely non-confidential clerical work and that [sic] has no appeal right to the [MSPB]."

25. While the Postal Service may have been justified in classifying postal
inspectors as exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA based on two prior district court
decisions, as early as February 2001, the Postal Service acknowledged and admitted that the job
duties of postal inspectors had dramatically changed during the twenty years since the prior
decisions. Consequently, from at least February 2001, the Postal Service was willfully failing to pay
postal inspectors their overtime compensation.

26. Because the Postal Service litigated the job duties and responsibilities before
the MSPB and the issue was decided by a final judgment before the MSPB, the Postal Service should
be estopped from denying or attempting to assert the defense of administrative exemption based on
the arguments it made to a federal administrative agency.

The Administrative Exemption Test

27. The Postal Service did not pay postal inspectors time and one-half for hours
worked in excess of forty-three (43) hours per week because it determined that they were
administrative employees exempt from the FLSA.

28. Both the United States Department of Labor ("DOL") and the federal
government's Office of Personnel Management ("OPM") define and regulate employee exemptions
under the FLSA.

209. Before an employee will be deemed "administratively exempt" from the FLSA

(and thus not entitled to overtime pay), the OPM requires the employee to be evaluated using four
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separate tests: the primary duty test; the non-manual work test; discretion and independent judgment
test; and the 80% test. If the Postal Service cannot demonstrate that postal inspectors meet all four
of these tests, postal inspectors are not administratively exempt employees and the Postal Service
is required to pay them overtime pay.

30. Under the primary duty test, an employee may be deemed administratively
exempt if his work either: (1) significantly affects the formulation or execution of management
programs or policies; (2) involves management or general business functions or supporting services
of substantial importance to the organization serviced; or (3) involves substantial participation in the
executive or administrative functions of a management official.

31. As a general rule, the primary duty must constitute a major part (over 50%)
of the employee's work and such duty must "significantly affect[] the formulation or execution of
management policies or programs."

32. A duty that constitutes less than 50% of the employee's work may be credited
toward the primary duty for exemption purposes but only if the duty: (1) constitutes a substantial,
regular part of a position; (2) governs the classification and qualification requirements of the
position; and (3) is clearly exempt work in terms of the basic nature of the work, the frequency with
which the employee must exercise discretion and independent judgment, and the significance of the
decisions made.

33. The duties of postal inspectors do not meet the primary duty test because a
postal inspector's duties do not affect the formulation or execution of management programs or
policies; do not involve management or general business functions of a substantial importance to the
Postal Service; and do not involve substantial participation in the executive or administrative
functions of a management official.

34, The Postal Service itself has acknowledged and argued, in administrative
proceedings with plaintiff Nigg, that postal inspectors are not supervisors or managers; that they do
not have the authority to direct the work of other employees through the use of independent
judgment; that they do not have any authority to recommend discretionary actions that effectively

control or implement employer policy; and that no employee reports directly to postal inspectors.
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35. Postal inspectors also do not "exercise discretion within, or even
independently of, established employer policy" and are not "aligned with management." The Postal
Service has argued that while postal inspectors initiated investigations, determined the manner in
which the investigations were conducted and presented the results to prosecuting authorities, their
discretion was limited because their responsibilities consisted only of the "routine discharge of
professional duties in projects to which they have been assigned." According to the Postal Service,
investigations and other work are performed at the direction of supervisors or Team Leaders.

36. Postal inspectors also do not meet the discretion and independent judgment
test. Under that test, the "employee frequently exercises discretion and independent judgment, under
only general supervision, in performing the normal day-to-day work."

37. According to DOL Regulations, the exercise of discretion and independent
judgment implies that an employee has the authority or power to make an independent choice, free
from immediate direction or supervision and with respect to matters of significance.

38. The DOL Regulations include the following example, essentially describing
the work of postal inspectors:

A typical example of the application of skills and procedures is

ordinary inspection work of various kinds. Inspectors normally

perform specialized work along standardized lines involving well-

established techniques and procedures which may have been

cataloged and described in manuals or other sources. Such inspectors

rely on techniques and skills acquired by special training or

experience. They may have some leeway in the performance of their

work but only within closely prescribed limits. Employees of this type

may make recommendations on the basis of the information they

develop in the course of their inspections (as for example, to accept

or reject an insurance risk or a product manufactured to

specifications), but these recommendations are based on the

development of the facts as to whether there is conformity with the

prescribed standards. In such cases a decision to depart from the

prescribed standards or the permitted tolerance is typically made by

the inspector's superior. The inspector is engaged in exercising skill

rather than discretion and independent judgment.

39. Postal inspector duties do not include the use of discretion or independent
judgment and their work is limited to that assigned to them by their Team Leaders. According to

the Postal Service, Team Leaders, Program Managers and others, all the way up to the Chief Postal

Inspector, supervise, manage and effectuate the benefits, policies and programs of the Postal Service,
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while postal inspectors simply perform the duties of an investigator when directed to do so by
management.

40. The Postal Service has argued (and succeeded) in demonstrating that:

[A Postal Inspector] has the authority and discretion to manage his

own investigations with the oversight and supervision of a Team

Leader. Besides that, [a Postal Inspector] supervises or manages no
programs or personnel.

The Salary Basis Test

41. In addition to the four tests enumerated above, to be administratively exempt,
the DOL requires that the employee be paid on a "salary basis."

42. An employee is not considered a "salary-based" employee if his or her
compensation is subject to reductions based on "variations in the 'quality or quantity' of the work
performed." Generally, salary-based employees may only be disciplined by being fired, demoted or
given restricted assignment, not through piecemeal deductions in their salary.

43. The DOL has determined that "variations in the 'quality or quantity' of work
performed" means that an employer cannot impose a monetary penalty on an employee for any
reason other than "for infractions of safety rules of major significance."

44, If an employer has an "actual practice of making [payroll] deductions or an
employment policy that creates a 'significant likelihood' of such deductions" for reasons other than
a major safety infraction, the employer cannot claim that the employee meets the criteria for an
administrative exemption under the FLSA.

45. The Postal Service makes deductions from postal inspectors' pay for anumber
of types of conduct that are not "infractions of safety rules of major significance."

46. For example, the Postal Service will dock a postal inspector's pay if he: uses
a Postal Service vehicle for personal activities while he is "off the clock," including while driving
to and from work; fails to respond or does not timely respond while on "duty assignment"; fails to
restrict his personal activities while on "duty assignment"; or fails to carry and secure his weapon

and postal equipment.
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47. Postal inspectors are also subject to losing availability pay (premium pay for
working on-call) if they do not meet certain eligibility requirements.

48. These deductions are reductions in compensation for reasons other than major
safety infractions.

49. Since at least February 2001 (the date of the Postal Service's submission to
the MSPB), the Postal Service knew that the job duties of its postal inspectors had drastically
changed over the last twenty years and that they were no longer entitled to the "administrative
exemption" of the FLSA. From at least February 2001, postal inspectors were entitled to overtime
compensation for hours worked in excess of forty-three (43) hours.

50. In their position as postal inspectors, plaintiffs and all other postal inspectors
worked more than forty-three (43) hours per week.

51. The Postal Service failed to pay plaintiffs and all other similarly situated
postal inspectors their proper overtime pay when they worked more than forty-three (43) hours per
week.

52. In addition to failing to pay proper overtime compensation, the Postal Service
required postal inspectors to work "off the clock." Specifically, postal inspectors were required to
work, without pay, during times when they were on "duty assignment."

53. Duty assignment required postal inspectors to work, or to be specifically
available to work ("on-call"), 24 hours a day, for a seven day period. Depending on the location at
which the postal inspector worked, duty assignment could occur as frequently as every several weeks
or as infrequently as once or twice a year. The frequency of duty assignment varied according to the
number of postal inspectors at any given location.

54. During duty assignment, the personal activities of postal inspectors are
extremely restricted. Postal inspectors on duty assignment are specifically instructed to restrict their
personal activities to be able to respond immediately to emergency criminal investigations and other
similar situations.

55. Postal inspectors are not paid while on duty assignment unless they are

actually called to perform work.
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56. While on duty assignment, postal inspectors are under the control of defendant
Postal Service and their activities meet the FLSA's definition of work. While on duty assignment,
the personal activities of postal inspectors are severely restricted for the benefit of the Postal Service
and to the postal inspector's detriment.

57. To be able to respond to emergency situations when they are on duty
assignment, postal inspectors are required to carry work related equipment with them. Specifically,
postal inspectors were required to carry, inter alia, their weapon, body armor, and communications
equipment at all times.

58. The Postal Service also required plaintiffs and the other postal inspectors to
drive Postal Service vehicles to and from their office and while they were at work. Postal inspectors
were not paid for the time it took them to drive to and from work in the vehicles provided by the
Postal Service even though they were not permitted to use those vehicles for personal use while
driving to or from their office. In fact, postal inspectors were subject to disciplinary action (the loss
of 30 days pay) if they used the vehicle for personal activities while they were "off the clock,"
including while driving to and from work.

59. The use of the Postal Service vehicle by postal inspectors was an integral and
indispensable part of a postal inspectors principal activities that benefitted the Postal Service.

60. The Postal Service failed to pay postal inspectors for the hours they worked
while on duty assignment, while traveling in their Postal Service-issued vehicle, and while required
to carry their Postal Service equipment.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et. seq.)

61. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in each of the
preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

62. Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors were non-exempt
employees of the Postal Service who were required by the FLSA to be paid time and one-half for all

hours worked in excess of forty-three (43) hours per week.
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63. Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors worked in excess
of forty-three (43) hours per week without receiving the appropriate amount of overtime pay.
Indeed, postal inspectors are expected to work an average of fifty hours (50) hours per week.

64. Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors were frequently
required to restrict their personal activities and be specifically available to respond to the needs of
the Postal Service while on "duty assignment." They also were required to drive Postal Service-
issued vehicles and carry and secure their weapons and other postal service equipment in their
residence and other places of activity. They were entitled to be paid for these activities and failed
to receive the appropriate amount of pay.

65. Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors have been damaged
by defendant's failure to pay them their required wages and they request compensatory damages in
an amount to be determined by a jury.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unfair Business Practices)

66. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in each of the
preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

67. "Unfair" means an act that offends public policy, and/or is immoral, unethical,
oppressive, or unscrupulous and which causes substantial injuries to others even if it does not violate
a specific law.

68. Defendant's actions were unfair in that defendants wrongfully classified
plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors as exempt from the provisions of the FLSA
and unjustly refused to pay plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors for all hours
worked.

69. Defendant's failure to record all hours worked, requiring postal inspectors to
work long hours of unpaid time, and subjecting them to disciplinary actions for failing to work long
hours also is unfair.

70. Defendant's unfair conduct described in the two preceding paragraphs

constituted a business practice.
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71. Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors are entitled to
restitution, disgorgement of profits and other equitable relief as a result of the Postal Service's unfair

business practices.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,
pray for relief and judgment against defendant as follows:

A. For an order authorizing this action to proceed as a collective action and
authorizing plaintiffs to give notice to all similarly situated current and former postal inspectors of
their right to join this action;

B. For compensatory damages in favor of the postal inspectors against defendant;

C. For an order providing for disgorgement of all monies received by defendant
in connection with its failure to pay plaintiffs and all other similarly situated postal inspectors their
proper wages;

D. For pre- and post-judgment interest;

E. For costs and disbursements incurred in connection with this action, including
reasonable attorneys' and experts' fees;

F. For an order awarding plaintiffs Nigg and Lewis an amount to be determined
at trial, as a result of their efforts in bringing this litigation; and

G. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
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Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, demand a trial by

jury on all issues so triable.

Date: April _, 2004

JURY DEMAND

BEATIE AND OSBORN LLP

Daniel A. Osborn

521 Fifth Avenue, 34" Floor
New York, New York 10175
Telephone:  (212) 888-9000
Facsimile: (212) 888-9664
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